# **Contents**

Contact Information	1
Part One	4
Introduction	4
Purpose of the SPD	5
Planning Policy Context	5
Background to Planning Obligations	9
Dudley's Approach to Securing Planning Obligations	14
Drafting Agreements	15
Financial Contributions	15
Monitoring	16
Part Two	18
Affordable Housing	18
Economic and Community Development	19
Education	21
Environmental Protection	23
Highway Infrastructure Works	26
Site Specific Measures	27
Historic Environment	28
Libraries	31
Nature Conservation	34
Open Space, Sport and Recreation	35
Public Art	38
Public Realm	39
Transport Infrastructure Improvements	42
Travel Plans	50
	Part One Introduction Purpose of the SPD Planning Policy Context Background to Planning Obligations Dudley's Approach to Securing Planning Obligations Drafting Agreements Financial Contributions Monitoring  Part Two Affordable Housing Economic and Community Development Education Environmental Protection Highway Infrastructure Works Site Specific Measures Historic Environment Libraries Nature Conservation Open Space, Sport and Recreation Public Art Public Realm Transport Infrastructure Improvements

# **Appendices**

1	Thresholds for Planning Obligations	52
2	Council Contacts	53
3	Glossary	54

# **Contact Information**

#### **Peter Fenwick**

Principal Planning Obligations Officer Directorate of the Urban Environment Development Control Section 3 St. James's Road Dudley DY1 1HZ

Tel: 01384 815533

e-mail: peter.fenwick@dudley.gov.uk

### **Jessica Nash**

Senior Planning Officer (Policy)
Directorate of the Urban Environment
Planning Policy Section
3 St. James's Road
Dudley
DY1 1HZ

Tel: 01384 817213 e-mail jessica.nash@dudley.gov.uk

This and other Local Development Framework documents are or will be made available on request in large copy print, audio cassette, Braille or languages other than English. If you require the document in one of these formats please contact:

Planning Policy Team, Directorate 3 St James's Road, Dudley, DY1 1HZ

#### **Arabic**

ستكون هذه مع بقية الوثائق لنظم العمل للتنمية المحلية متوفرة عند طلبها بطبعات مكبرة, وعلى الكاسيت, بريل, أو بلغات غير اللغة الانكليزية. فاذا كنت بحاجة لوثيقة لاحد من الاشكال المذكورة, رجاءا أتصل بفريق التخطيط لطريقة العمل (policy), مجلس ددلي المحلي, ٣ سانت طيمسز رود, دي واي ١ أيج زت. التلفون:١٣٨٤ ٨١٦٩٦٧، أيه ميل udp.plan@dudley.gov.uk

#### Bengali

এই দলিল বা ডকুমেন্ট এবং অন্যান্ত স্থানীয় উন্নয়ন বিষয়ক কাঠামো সম্পর্কিত দলিলসমূহ অন্মরোধে বড় অক্ষরের লেখা বা লার্জ প্রিন্টে, অডিও কেসেটে, ব্রেইলে কিংবা অন্যান্ত ভাষায় পাওয়া যাবে। আপনি যদি এই দলিলটি উপরোক্ত যে কোন মাধ্যম বা ফরমেটে পেতে চান, তাহলে দয়া করে যোগাযোগ করুন: Planning Policy Team, Directorate of the Urban Environment, Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council, 3 St. James's Road, Dudley DY1 1HZ. টেলিফোন: 01384 816967, ই-মেইল: udp.plan@dudley.gov.uk.

#### Chinese

這及其它區域發展架構的文件可因應需要而製成大字版,錄音帶,盲人點字或英文以外的語文.如你需要文件用以上其中一種形式,請聯絡政策計劃小組(Planning Policy Team),城市環境保護署 (Directorate of the Urban Environment),得利市政府, 3 St. James's Road, Dudley, DY1 1HZ. 電話: 01384 816967. 電郵: udp.plan@dudley.gov.uk

# Gujarati

આ તેમજ લોકલ ડિવેલોપમેન્ટ ફ્રેમવર્કના અન્ય દસ્તાવેજો વિનંતી કરવાથી મોટા અક્ષરોમાં છાપેલા, ઓડિયો કેસેટ પર, બ્રેઈલમાં અથવા અંગ્રેજી સિવાયની બીજી ભાષાઓમાં મળી શકે છે અથવા મેળવી આપી શકાશે. જો તમને આમાંથી કોઈ સ્વરૂપમાં દસ્તાવેજ જોઈતો હોય, તો કૃપા કરીને આ સરનામે સંપર્ક કરોઃ Planning Policy Team, Directorate of the Urban Environment, Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council, 3 St. James's Road, Dudley DY1 1HZ. ફોન: 01384 816967 ઈમેઈલ: udp.plan@dudley.gov.uk

# Punjabi

ਅਨੁਰੋਧ ਕਰਨ ਤੇ, ਇਹ ਡਾਕਯੂਮੰਟ (ਲਿਖਤ ਜਾਣਕਾਰੀ ਦਸਤਾਵੇਜ਼), ਅਤੇ ਸਥਾਨਕ ਵਿਕਾਸ ਯੋਜਨਾ (ਫ਼ਰੇਮਵਰਕ) ਸੰਬੰਧੀ ਹੋਰ ਡਾਕਯੂਮੰਟਸ ਵੱਡੇ ਪਰਿੰਟ, ਆਡੀਓ ਕਸੈੱਟ ਤੇ ਰੀਕਾਰਡ ਕੀਤੇ ਹੋਏ, ਬਰੇਲ ਫ਼ਾਰਮੈਟ, ਅਤੇ ਅੰਗ੍ਰੇਜ਼ੀ ਭਾਸ਼ਾ ਦੇ ਨਾਲ ਨਾਲ ਹੋਰ ਭਾਸ਼ਾਵਾਂ ਵਿੱਚ ਵੀ ਮਿਲ ਸਕਦੇ ਹਨ ਜਾਂ ਮਿਲ ਸਕਣਗੇ। ਜੇਕਰ ਤੁਸੀਂ ਕੋਈ ਡਾਕਯੂਮੰਟ ਇਨ੍ਹਾਂ ਵਿੱਚੋਂ ਕਿਸੇ ਫ਼ਾਰਮੈਟ (ਬਣਤਰ) ਵਿੱਚ ਲੈਣਾ ਚਾਹੁੰਦੇ ਹੋ, ਤਾਂ ਕ੍ਰਿਪਾ ਕਰਕੇ ਹੇਠ ਲਿਖੇ ਪਤੇ ਤੇ ਸੰਪਰਕ ਕਰੋ: ਪਲੈਨਿੰਗ ਪਾੱਲਸੀ ਟੀਮ, ਡਾਇਰੈਟਟਰੇਟ ਆੱਫ਼ ਦਿ ਅਰਬਨ ਇੱਨਵਾਇਰਨਮੈਂਟ, ਡਡਲੀ ਮੈਟਰੋਪਾੱਲਿਟਨ ਬਰੌ ਕਾਉਂਸਲ, 3 ਸੈਂਟ ਜੇਮਸਿਸ ਰੋਡ ਡਡਲੀ Planning Policy Team, Directorate of the urban environment, Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council, 3 St, James's Road, Dudley DY1 1HZ - ਟੈਲੀਫ਼ੋਨ ਨੰਬਰ: 01384-816967 - ਈ-ਮੇਲ ਪਤਾ: udp.plan@dudley.gov.uk

#### Urdu

بیادراوکل ڈیو پلیپنٹ فریم ورک (مقامی بہتری سے متعلق اقد امات کا ڈھانچہ ) سے متعلق دوسری دستاویز ات بڑے حرف کی طباعت ، آؤ پوکسیسیٹ ، بریل یا آگریز کی زبان کے علاوہ زبانوں میں ترجمی کی صورت میں دستال ہیں یا درخواست پر فراہم کی جا کیں گئے۔ اگر آپ کو دستاویز ان میں ہے کہ می شکل میں درکار ہے تو براہم برانی پلانگ پالینگ می ادر کو استان میں این این ان میں این این اور کو استان میں درکونس میرو پولیشن بروکونس ، 3 سینٹ جیموز روؤ ، ڈولی ڈی وائی 1 1 آگر ڈیل کے ساتھ دراہلے قائم کریں ۔ ٹیلیٹون نمبرز ، 601384 و 6019 مائ میل

# 1 Part One

#### Introduction

- 1.1 The aim of this Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is to set out detailed guidance on the way the Council expect policies within the plan, with respect of planning obligations, to be applied in particular circumstances. The SPD will provide greater clarity to developers, the community and the Council regarding the basis for negotiating Planning Obligations. The SPD will also set out how planning obligations will be used to promote sustainable development and ensure the infrastructure necessary to support future residential and commercial growth is delivered.
- 1.2 Furthermore it is the intention of this guidance to inform the operation of the Development Control process, and to provide a guide for developers and land use managers about the general principles applicable to planning obligations and how these are considered through the planning process.
- 1.3 Whilst this guidance will not have equivalent status to Development Plan Documents, compliance with Supplementary Planning Document guidance is a material consideration in the making of planning decisions and therefore carries significant weight in the decision making process.
- 1.4 Dudley's Planning Obligations Policy (Policy DD7) (see Part One) is set out in the Council's Unitary Development Plan 2005 (UDP). The proposed Planning Obligations SPD will be a separate document which will provide more guidance and detail on how Policy DD7 and other associated policies will be implemented.
- The SPD has been produced with regard to National Planning Guidance, the Regional Spatial Strategy, the Development Plan (i.e. the Council's Adopted Unitary Development Plan 2005), the Community Strategy and drawing upon best practice elsewhere. It has been subject to a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and screening for a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA).
- 1.6 Public Consultation has taken place in line with the Statement of Community Involvement (November 2006). A statement of the consultation undertaken, the representations received and the authority's responses to these representations will be found in the Consultation Summary Report.

# **Purpose of the SPD**

1.7 The following paragraphs set out the key aim and objectives of the Planning Obligations SPD.

#### Aim of the SPD

The fundamental principle underlying planning obligations is that they are "intended to make acceptable development which would be otherwise unacceptable in planning terms (Circular 05/2005, Paragraph B3). The key aim of this guidance is to provide clarity for developers, the community and the Council regarding the basis for negotiating Planning Obligations. The SPD will set out how planning obligations will be used to promote sustainable development and ensure the infrastructure necessary to support future residential and commercial growth is delivered.

# **Objectives of the SPD**

- 1.9 The main objectives for the SPD are identified as follows:
  - To set out the principles that guide the Council's approach to planning obligations
  - To set out a scale of standard formulae and charges for a profile of needs that may be generated by a development and to justify these formulae and charges
  - To set out the policy basis for a full range of planning obligations

# **Planning Policy Context**

#### **National Policy Context**

- 1.10 The legal basis for Planning Obligations is provided by Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991). It should however be noted that Sections 46 and 47 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 give the Secretary of State the power to make regulations to replace S.106, when seen as appropriate.
- 1.11 Government advice on the application and use of planning obligations is set out in Circular 05/2005 'Planning Obligations'. This guidance seeks to ensure that planning obligations are used as effectively as possible.

- 1.12 In July 2006 this was followed by the 'Planning Obligations Practice Guide'. This guidance aims to provide Local Planning Authorities and developers with practical tools and methods to help the development, negotiation and implementation of planning obligations.
- **1.13** Further guidance is also contained within PPS1 'Delivering Sustainable Development'. Indeed paragraph 24 states:
  - "Planning authorities should ensure that sustainable development is treated in an integrated way in their development plans. In particular, they should carefully consider the interrelationship between social inclusion, protecting and enhancing the environment, the prudent use of natural resources and economic development for example, by recognising that economic development, if properly planned for, can have positive social and environmental benefits, rather than negative impacts, and that environmental protection and enhancement can in turn provide economic and social benefits."

### **Regional Planning Guidance**

Regional Spatial Strategy 11 (RSS11) for the West Midlands

- 1.14 The Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) for the West Midlands RSS11 was published in June 2004. The RSS has a similar stance to PPS1 with respect of delivering sustainable development in the region. Indeed the key role of the RSS is stated as:
  - " ... enabling all parts of the Region to sustainably meet their own needs, in a mutually supportive way".

This will be achieved through:

"... Protecting and enhancing the Region's environmental assets, and where appropriate making economic use of them, together with the prudent use of natural resources ... will be particularly important in guiding the nature and location of development and improvements at sub-regional and local levels."

(Paragraph 3.6, Page 14, RRS11, 2004)

1.15 As set out in the purpose and objectives of the SPD, Planning Obligations have a key role to delivering sustainable development, not only in Dudley but, across the region.

#### **Local Guidance**

<u>Dudley Unitary Development Plan (October 2005)</u>

1.16 One of the key aims of the plan is to promote sustainable development in the Borough. The significance of Planning Obligations in achieving this aspiration is noted in the Plan, indeed there are several policies within the document which refer to the potential use of Planning Obligations in achieving this aim. The key Policy upon which this document is based on is:

# **Policy DD7 Planning Obligations**

# Reasons for the Policy

The Council, in applying the policies set out in this Plan to new developments, will, when necessary and appropriate, require developers to enter into planning obligations. These obligations will only be sought where it is considered necessary to safeguard the local environment and/or compensate for additional burdens placed by the development on community facilities and infrastructure.

The key principle in the use of planning obligations is that any gain sought in response to a planning proposal must be a direct consequence of, and related to it. It may be more appropriate to consider such requirements as mitigating planning loss resulting from the affects of development and it is not intended that the community should have to underwrite any hidden costs of development. The only exception to this is the provision of affordable housing which legally represents genuine additionality.

In accordance with national guidance the Council will apply the established tests of reasonableness in respect of what constitutes properly related planning gain so that each development is treated on its own merits and appropriate judgments made of what is necessary and justifiable. Planning obligations do not make an unacceptable development acceptable; it is a subordinate requirement and should not be the primary purpose of any development proposal. Conversely if a development is considered acceptable, in respect of its impact on local community and infrastructure provision planning gain would not be justified.

Against this background, development must provide for its direct infrastructure requirements, whether on or off site, and will only be acceptable where there is not a significant net cost to those living and working in the vicinity of the proposed development. "Planning loss" will arise whenever, as a result of development, there is a loss of capacity within a given category of infrastructure available to the existing community, or inadequate provision for a new community.

Where there is a clearly identified impact on the community or infrastructure arising from a development proposal, the Council will undertake detailed analysis to assess the type and level of measures necessary to mitigate planning loss and will negotiate an appropriate planning obligation.

The Council's approach, consistent with circular and case law will consider whether mitigation is required when the proposal is tested against the implications for a range of community provision and infrastructure requirements which may include the following:-

- 1. Open space, sport, leisure and recreation provision.
- 2. Traffic and transportation (including Public Transport and Green Transport Plans).
- 3. Education Provision.
- 4. Social Service Provision.
- 5. Crime prevention and public safety.
- 6. Economic and community development.
- 7. Nature Conservation.
- 8. Historic Environment.
- 9. Environmental Health.
- 10. Public Art.

If mitigation is required, the specific provisions which are needed and are reasonable in the individual circumstances will be identified. Where appropriate, account will be taken of site specific constraints affecting the overall viability of the proposed development. As a consequence an appropriate and justifiable planning obligation will be negotiated with the applicant, and/or the applicants agent.

#### **DD7 PLANNING OBLIGATIONS**

The Council will require applicants to enter into planning obligations where the scale and impact of development proposals can be shown, in accordance with government advice, to result in a consequential planning loss to the existing community.

The planning obligation must, where appropriate and necessary:-

- a. Make appropriate provision for the infrastructure requirements of the development
- b. Ensure that there is no unacceptable adverse impact on the environment, nor consequential unacceptable loss to the existing level of services enjoyed by the community.

#### Other Relevant UDP Policies

1.17 Other relevant policies with respect of planning obligations are referred to within the specific sections in Part Two.

<u>Dudley Borough Challenge: Community Strategy 2005 – 2020</u>

- 1.18 The Dudley Unitary Development Plan provides the mechanisms for delivering the aspirations of the Dudley Borough Community Strategy (2005). The aim of the Community Strategy is to set out a vision up until the year 2020 for a prosperous and attractive Borough. The Community Strategy identifies a series of six key priorities, all of equal importance, which together contribute towards an overall vision for a 'Stronger Community'. These are:
  - Creating a prosperous borough
  - Promoting a sense of well-being and good health for everyone
  - Celebrating our heritage and the diversity of local culture
  - Safeguarding and improving the environment
  - Promoting individual and community learning
  - Making Dudley a safe and peaceful place to live.
- 1.19 Progress within each of these priorities will contribute towards the creation of stronger communities and help deliver the national, local and regional objective of sustainable development within the Borough. Planning Obligations secured from new development will also play a significant role in contributing to the priorities identified within the Borough Challenge. It is therefore clear that the Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document will have a key role in supporting the aims and objectives of the Community Strategy.

# **Background to Planning Obligations**

The following section aims to provide a background to Planning Obligations. Firstly setting out what they are, how they are used and when they are needed. The final paragraphs will provide further background as to the circumstances by which off-site contributions may be sought and how contributions may be pooled. Also discussed is the impact viability issues may have on contributions sought.

# What is a Planning Obligation?

- 1.21 Planning obligations, also known as Section 106 agreements, are legal agreements negotiated between local planning authorities and developers, usually in the context of a planning application. They are sought only where it is considered necessary to safeguard the local environment and/or compensate for additional burdens placed by the development on community facilities and infrastructure.
- 1.22 The purpose of a planning obligation is to mitigate the impacts of proposed new development. In essence they are intended to make 'acceptable' development that would otherwise be 'unacceptable in planning terms.
- 1.23 The legal basis for planning obligations is provided by Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by the Compensation Act 1991). Sections 46 and 47 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 give the Secretary of State the power to make regulations to replace S.106, but the Secretary of State has not yet taken these powers.
- **1.24** Government advice on the application and use of planning obligations is set out in Circular 05/2005 'Planning Obligations'. This guidance seeks to ensure that planning obligations are used as effectively as possible.

#### **Conditions Vs Planning Obligations**

- 1.25 In order to exercise control over development, suitable conditions may be imposed on a planning consent. The aim of conditions is to make a proposal acceptable when the only other alternative may have been to refuse it. Conditions can only control the application site itself or adjoining land under the applicants control.
- 1.26 In circumstances where an authority may wish to control the impact of a development but the desired restrictions go beyond the bounds that conditions cover the authority may enter into a Section 106 Agreement or Planning Obligation. Planning obligations will only ever be prepared when it is considered that a development will have negative impacts that cannot be dealt with through conditions.
- 1.27 Government guidance on Planning Conditions is set out in Circular 11/1995. The guidance contains a number of policy tests which, if met, make the imposition of a condition preferable to a planning obligation. In addition to this Circular 05/2005 clearly states that the terms of conditions should not be duplicated or re-stated on a planning obligation.

# Ways in which planning obligations may be used?

- **1.28** As set out in paragraph B3 of Circular 05/2005 'Planning Obligations', obligations may be used;
  - to **prescribe** the nature of development (e.g. by requiring that a given proportion of housing on a site is affordable); or
  - to secure a contribution from a developer to **compensate** for loss or damage created by a development (e.g. loss of open space); or
  - to **mitigate** a development's impact (e.g. through increased public transport provision).

# When they are needed?

- 1.29 The use of planning obligations must be governed by the fundamental principle that planning permission may not be bought or sold.
- 1.30 There are no hard and fast rules about the size or type of development that should attract Planning Obligations. However, government guidance in Circular 05/2005 'Planning Obligations' (Paragraph B5) stipulates that they should only be sought where they meet all of the following tests:
  - i. relevant to planning;
  - ii. necessary to make the proposed development acceptable in planning terms;
  - iii. directly related to the proposed development;
  - iv. fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development; and
  - v. reasonable in all other respects.

# How can they be obtained?

- 1.31 There are four standard methods by which Planning Obligations can be negotiated/ obtained these are as follows;
  - 1. Site by site basis;
  - 2. Use of standard formula/ tariff, e.g. Off site public open space;
  - 3. Provision of area based infrastructure, e.g. where developments occur within close proximity to each other and the cumulative effect will result in the requirement for public realm improvements, the Council may pool contributions from each of the developments to fund improvements in an

- equitable way, for example improvements to public realm and conservation areas:
- 4. Strategic infrastructure, e.g. extensions to metro and bus routes.
- 1.32 The Council will negotiate obligations on a proposal by proposal basis starting with the formulae provided by the SPD, and then with due regard to the resulting total package of obligations sought when considering whether obligations are "fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development" (Paragraph B5, Circular 05/2005).

### How can they be used?

- 1.33 Government policy and guidance indicates that, wherever possible, planning conditions should be attached to grant of planning permission in preference to the use of obligations. However, it is not always appropriate to deal with certain matters by way of condition, and this is when a planning obligation can be used.
- **1.34** Planning Obligations can be used in the following ways, to:
  - a. Restrict the development or use of the land in a specified way;
  - b. Require specified operations and activities to be carried out on the land;
  - c. Require the land to be used in a specified way;
  - d. Require that a sum or sums to be paid to the authority on a specified date or dates or periodically.
- 1.35 They provide a means of ensuring that developers contribute towards the infrastructure and the services that Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council believe necessary to facilitate proposed developments. Contributions may be either in cash or kind.

#### Off Site Provision and Pooled Contributions

Off site provision; On suitable sites provision of affordable housing, open space, community facilities and transport infrastructure etcetera may be provided on-site, subject to agreement by the Council and the developer, i.e. a S.106 agreement or Planning Obligation. However, in some cases on-site provision may not be appropriate. In these instances the Council may enter into an agreement with the developer for off-site provision of the necessary facilities and/ or infrastructure or seek financial contribution towards off-site provision.

1.37 Pooled Contributions; For certain smaller scale developments the contributions raised through planning obligations may not be of a level that could contribute significantly towards improvements in an area. However, if considered cumulatively the contributions raised through smaller scale development may be pooled together to allow the Council to make a single improvement to an area. Similarly for larger infrastructure improvements, including strategic infrastructure projects, contributions may also be pooled so that they can be used more cost effectively. It is important to note that the financial contributions pooled will be ring-fenced to contribute towards the programmes and schemes that have been identified in the relevant planning agreements. Those schemes must be directly related to the proposed development. In the unlikely event that financial contributions secured from developers cannot be spent within the timescale provided for in the agreement, the money will be refunded to the developer.

# Impact on viability

- 1.38 If a developer considers that the level of obligations required would render their proposal unviable, then the developer will be expected to provide for the full financial details of the proposal to the Council, in a financial appraisal submitted and signed by an appropriately qualified professional. This will be handled on a confidential basis in recognition of a developers commercial interests. For the Council to consider an "unviable" argument, it will be essential that the developer shares information substantiating this on an open book basis. If there is any disagreement on the financial appraisal the Council will expect the developer to agree to an adjudication by an independent financial body and any costs of the adjudication funded by the developer.
- Every proposed development must be assessed against the relevant planning policy, and obligations will only be required where a development would otherwise be unacceptable in planning terms. In these instances the developer will be expected to provide the full cost of meeting the public infrastructure requirements outlined in this SPD. Only in exceptional circumstances would the Council consider a reduction in the full cost. In these cases the public infrastructure requirements may be prioritised in accordance with the Council's policy priorities, in consultation with interested parties. Until such a time as a formal priority mechanism for apportioning a reduced level of Planning Obligation is determined (in accordance with the Council's Objectives and Priorities) then generally the requirements will be apportioned on the ratio or percentage as if there was no reduction in infrastructure.

# **Dudley's Approach to Securing Planning Obligations**

1.40 This section sets out Dudley Council's approach to securing Planning Obligations. This will include looking at the procedures for drafting agreements and dealing with financial contributions and for carrying out monitoring of Planning Obligations.

# **Process of Securing Planning Obligations**

- 1.41 The policies in the Council's Adopted Unitary Development Plan provide the policy framework within which planning obligations will be sought. In addition Supplementary Planning Documents can provide a further more detailed framework for determining what planning obligations will be sought when a planning application is being considered.
- 1.42 Following receipt of a planning application other Council Departments will be consulted (e.g. Highways, Education, Regeneration and Housing amongst others) as well other external service providers and statutory consultees. The planning Case Officer will rely on these other services to identify where there is a need, arising from the development, for infrastructure and/ or services. The Case Officer will then co-ordinate the responses presented to them by the other Council departments and inform the developer of the requirements made. The developers agreement will then be sought for their inclusion within a S.106 legal agreement. Failure to agree to these services/ infrastructure may well result in the Council refusing planning permission for the development.
- 1.43 Providing the developer agrees to the requirements then the planning application will go to Committee (in accordance with the Council's scheme of delegation) where it will be recommended for approval subject to the prior completion of the S.106 agreement. For smaller developments that still need a similar agreement it may be that the scheme can be approved subject to a planning condition which will not allow any works to commence before a binding agreement has been provided which ensures the provision of the needed services/ infrastructure. In the latter case the developer will still need to provide written confirmation that he/she agrees to provide the services/ infrastructure necessary before the application is determined. Failure to agree to the provision of these services/ infrastructure may well result in the Council refusing the development.
- 1.44 Finally it should be noted that discussions and consultation with regard to Section 106 Agreements will be carried out at pre-application stage to provide developers and the Council with confidence in a proposed scheme.

# **Drafting Agreements**

- 1.45 Planning agreements will be drafted by the Council's legal services team, or by solicitors acting on the Council's behalf. Developers will be required to pay the Council's cost in drafting the agreement. The SPD will also allow for solicitors acting on behalf of developers to draft agreements following an agreement to this approach on a case by case basis with the Council.
- 1.46 In order to ensure that agreements are dealt with promptly and efficiently as possible developers are encouraged to provide the following information on submission of the planning application:
  - evidence of title to the land;
  - a draft heads of terms for the agreement and a solicitor's undertaking to pay both the Council's reasonable legal costs; and
  - the relevant fee for the Council to manage and monitor the legal agreement.
- 1.47 Developers should also inform the Council immediately of any change in ownership of the application site, as failure to do so can lead to delays in determining the application.
- 1.48 Finally, the Council's legal services team has standard wording to cover affordable housing provision, financial contributions to public open space and play areas and highway works, which should enable standard agreements to be concluded quickly in many cases. Further information can be obtained from the Council's Corporate Litigation team, or from the Principal Planning Obligations Officer.

### **Financial Contributions**

- 1.49 Contributions could be requested from developers on entering into a section 106 agreement with Dudley MBC. The areas where contributions may be requested are detailed in Part Two of this document and include affordable housing and recreational facilities. The amounts to be paid can include:
  - A planning obligation amount as detailed in each individual agreement;
  - An agreed amount to cover officer time in preparing and managing the agreement with the developer. Amounts which can be charged for include allowances for legal, engineering and landscape architect input into the agreement;
  - An additional charge for the service provided by a dedicated Planning Obligations officer employed by Dudley MBC. The charge for this element will be 10% of the planning application fee or £1,000 whichever is greater (this charge is subject to review and may change).

# **Trigger for Payment**

- 1.50 The developer contribution is payable as defined in the agreement. Potential points when these amounts become payable include:
  - On signing the agreement;
  - On starting development on site;
  - When an agreed percentage of the works has been completed; or
  - When the development is complete.

#### **Payment**

1.51 Contributions are payable to Dudley MBC and are banked into Dudley MBC's Receipts Suspense account. Payments can be made by cheque or electronic methods such as BACS

### Accounting for the use of these contributions

- 1.52 Individual financial (project) codes are set up by Accountancy Services in order to keep individual balances separate in order to aid monitoring. These contributions must be spent within the timescale defined by the agreement and may be spent in 2 ways:
  - Physical improvements (i.e. capital works) these are allocated by means
    of officer working groups such as the Greenspace S.106 PIT meeting. This
    meeting uses a detailed prioritisation mechanism to allocate these funds
    to sites. These decisions are then reported through to the Council's Cabinet
    and ratified at Full Council meeting in order to receive member approval.
    Funds will be allocated to schemes in accordance with the terms of the
    agreement.
  - Maintenance/ establishment works as defined by the agreement
- **1.53** Balances remaining unspent after the defined timescale are paid back to the developer with accrued interest.

# **Monitoring**

1.54 Monitoring of Planning Obligations will be undertaken by Dudley MBC's Planning Obligations Officer to ensure all obligations are complied with, both by the developer and by the Council. The Council will track compliance with each provision contained in a legal agreement as a development proceeds. This will ensure that all services are spending the financial contributions and completing non-financial obligations in accordance with the terms of agreements.

- **1.55** Planning Obligations Monitoring Reports will be presented to the Development Control Committee on an annual basis and will detail-
  - Information on the obligations entered into
  - Financial contributions received
  - Affordable housing negotiated
  - Completion of schemes funded from financial contributions

# 2 Part Two

# **Affordable Housing**

# **Policy Background**

2.1 The justification for requiring obligations in respect of affordable housing is set out in Planning Policy Statement 1 (PPS1) (2005) 'Delivering Sustainable Development', Planning Policy Statement 3 (PPS 3) (November 2006) 'Housing', Policy H5 - Affordable Housing of the Council's Adopted Unitary Development Plan (UDP) (October 05) and the Council's Supplementary Planning Document on 'Affordable Housing' (May 2006).

# Trigger for obligation

2.2 Affordable housing will be sought on any proposals involving 15 or more dwellings (in accordance with the most recent government guidance in PPS3). On suitable sites the Council will seek 30% of the dwellings as affordable. The Council's preferred option will be to secure on-site provision, however, there may be exceptional circumstances where this is not realistic and so off-site provision or a commuted sum, may, in rare circumstances, be appropriate.

### What is expected from developers?

- 2.3 It is expected that developers should make early contact with Planning and Housing to discuss the affordable element of any proposed residential developments.
- The following will be sought when agreeing obligations in respect of affordable housing:
  - Number, type and proportion of units to be provided.
  - The standards to be applied to the construction of those units. The Council
    expects developers to comply with the Council's latest minimum standards
    for social rented housing.
  - The phasing of their provision.
  - The location of the units within the site.

- The Registered Social Landlord (RSL) and other agencies to be involved.
   The Council expects developers to involve Dudley Housing Partnership (DHP) members in bringing forward new schemes in the Borough.
- Any other relevant considerations.

#### Basis of calculation

2.5 Dudley MBC Housing Needs Survey (August 1998) and Housing Needs Survey Re-Analysis (March 2002). A new Housing Needs Survey has been completed for the Council. (June 2006). This will be used to inform and guide future policy and may result in revisions in due course.

#### **Further Information**

- 2.6 Detailed information relating to Planning Obligations in respect of Affordable Housing can be found in Dudley MBC's Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (May 2006).
- 2.7 A list of Dudley Housing Partnership (DHP) members is available from the Directorate of Adult Community and Housing Services.

# **Economic and Community Development**

# **Policy Background**

- 2.8 Economic Well being for the residents of Dudley will be achieved when unemployment levels in all areas of the Borough are lower than the England average and continuing to improve, when all people have access to and are engaged in and succeeding in training that equips them with skills demanded by employers and finally when the employment offers made have resulted in an average weekly earnings rate which is consistently at or above the average for England and our Gross Value Added (GVA) (1) rate is keeping pace with the national average.
- 2.9 The justification for requiring obligations towards achieving economic well being in the Borough comes from the Urban Regeneration, Community Services and Employment and Economy Chapters of the Unitary Development Plan. These chapters contain several policies which reference the need for development to provide employment opportunities to the benefit of the community.

i GVA (Gross Value Added) is a measure of productivity in an area and shows how much an area contributes towards the UK economy

- 2.10 Dudley Council is looking to secure, through the Planning Obligations process, commitment to:
  - A number of local jobs for local people;
  - Interventions that can support activities to up-skill local unemployed people of a working age and support them into sustainable employment.
- 2.11 The focus of resources gained would be the Borough's defined priority areas and groups that are most need. The aim will be to narrow the gap between the most advantaged and disadvantaged areas of the borough and to reach a local working age employment rate of 80%.

#### **Trigger for Obligations**

- 2.12 Where appropriate all developments will be encouraged to contribute towards economic well being, through job opportunities using locally sourced labour and materials.
  - Gaining access to and promoting opportunity:
- 2.13 Dudley has a Construction Initiatives Development Manager who has been successful in negotiating agreements with contractors / developers with respect of training and employment opportunities within their development and or supply chain for the construction stages. This has extended to jobs within the development, where new ones are created. Any assistance in this endeavour, through a planning obligation, that could insist or suggest a role for the developer and its supply chain will be essential to promote the success of this approach.
- **2.14** For larger constructions and commercial development opportunities for local employment and use of local services will be sought.

#### What is expected from developers?

- 2.15 Developers are encouraged to make early contact with Planning and the Economic Well Being section of the Economic Regeneration Division to discuss;
  - development of proposals that can both support/ facilitate and benefit from the training and the Local Jobs for Local People initiatives / interventions, which are currently available.
- 2.16 For Commercial Developments we will look at the need to improve employment rates towards the England average. The Developer will therefore agree a level of intervention, which will allow <u>unemployed</u> people living within the Borough opportunities to apply for work both in the construction of and end user phase of the Development. This includes:

- A recruitment process that provides equality of opportunity for local unemployed residents.
- The registering of any vacancies that relates to work on or associated with the Development with agencies identified by the Planning Authority. This should be for a period prior to and after completion of the Development.
- Provision of a minimum of 3 working days between registering the vacancy and filling the vacancy.
- Provision to advertise vacancies in local Job Centres, agencies identified by the Planning Authority and in 3 local newspapers nominated by the Council.
- Commitment to work with agencies identified by the Planning Authority for the purpose of identifying and interviewing suitable local unemployed applicants.
- The production of a Sustainable Development Method Statement setting out what measures will be undertaken to achieve the requirements set out above and made available to the Planning Authority.

#### **Further Information**

2.17 Further detailed information relating to Planning Obligation with respect of Economic and Community Development contributions can be obtained from the Economic Well Being team.

#### Education

#### **Policy Background**

- 2.18 The justification for requiring obligations in respect of Education Provision is set out in Circular 05/2005 (Para B15), and Policies DD7 'Planning Obligations' and CS3 'Community Facilities' of the Dudley Unitary Development Plan.
- 2.19 The Directorate of Children's Services core function is to ensure that every child has a school place in good quality provision and that their individual needs are met by making sure that they are able to achieve their potential through a quality service in Children's Centres, Nursery, Primary, Secondary and Sixth Form provision. Some children have Educational Needs that cannot be effectively met in local schools, and the Statement of Special Educational Needs for these children will set out that their needs will be met in special schools. In addition to local schools and special schools, there will be Pupil Referral Units and Home & Hospital. A broader range of provision is required for increased flexibility in capacity to meet educational needs through out-reach professional support from special schools to local schools.

# **Trigger for Obligations**

- 2.20 Educational Obligations will apply to residential developments if the development is likely to result in the generation of additional pupil numbers in excess of that which local schools can accommodate. In these circumstances a financial contribution for ensuring on-site provision will be required if the size of the development justifies the provision of new educational facilities.
- 2.21 Obligations may be required for both Primary (4 11 year olds) and Secondary School (11-18 year olds) facilities. In exceptional circumstances obligations will be sought towards facilities for 0 5 year olds and Special Education Facilities.
- 2.22 The following types of residential accommodation will not be subject to Educational Obligations: sheltered housing, rest homes, nursing homes, hostels, student accommodation, one bedroom dwellings and studio flats.

#### **Basis of the Calculation**

- 2.23 Basic Need (BN) **cost multipliers** are prepared in August/September as taken from the Department for Education and Skills for the following financial year. These are a cost per pupil for building new accommodation. There is currently one cost multiplier figure for each phase of education (primary, secondary/ post 16) each using different area standards.
- 2.24 The BN cost multipliers are based on the weighted average of two separate multipliers, one for totally new schools and one for extensions to existing schools. Each of these multipliers has two main components an area per place factor derived from Building Bulletin 98 or 99, and a cost per m² derived from actual tendered projects.
- 2.25 The area and cost factors are multiplied together to give the building cost per place. To this are added percentages to provide for the cost of site works, furniture and equipment and professional fees. VAT and land purchase costs are not covered by the multipliers. The two multipliers are then weighted to reflect the national balance of basic need places provided in new and extension projects and give the published multiplier values. Location adjustments are then applied as above.
- Our area assumptions per pupil are standardised on a 1 Form Entry Primary (210 places 5-11) and a 6 Form Entry Secondary school (900 places 11-18)

#### Calculation

2.27 In calculating developers contributions towards Education the Council will take two key factors into consideration, these are the number of units proposed and the number of bedrooms. This calculation allows officers to make a fair

calculation of anticipated student yield from a varied mix of developments and gives due to smaller and larger developments. It should be stressed that this model does not include one bedroom/ studio developments as statistics show the pupil yield from these obligations to be negligible.

- 2.28 Example;
- 2.29 According to the figures set out in Dudley's Housing Need Survey (2005) a development comprising one hundred 3 bedroom dwellings would yield an average of 35 pupils. Based on the figures this number would be broken down into the following categories;
  - 60% or 21 pupils of Primary age (4 -10);
  - 40% or 12 pupils of Secondary age (11 18);
- **2.30** The cost per school place and specific to Dudley are:
  - £9,646 cost per Nursery and Primary School
  - £14,739 cost per Secondary School
- 2.31 All Primary schools within a 2-mile radius of the development and all Secondary schools within a 3-mile radius of the proposed development are tabled and their capacities are then scheduled out to ascertain if the development can be absorbed into any surplus capacity of the local schools, if so then no contribution would be required. However, if there were not enough capacity to accommodate the development then a contribution would be required. The amount is ascertained based on the above data.

#### **Further Information**

2.32 Further information can be obtained from the Buildings and Estates Manager within the Directorate of Children's Centres, or the Planning Obligations Officer in the Council.

# **Environmental Protection**

#### **Policy Background**

2.33 The justification for seeking obligations with respect of Environmental Protection principally lies with Policy DD7 'Planning Obligations' of the Dudley Unitary Development Plan. Policies EP7 'Noise Pollution', EP5 'Air Quality' and UR9 'Contaminated Land' also set out the local policy framework for which planning obligations, related to Environmental Protection will be sought.

# **Trigger for Obligation**

2.34 Planning Obligations with respect of Environmental Protection should only be used where matters relating to noise, air quality and contaminated land cannot be dealt with through conditions. The following section talks about the triggers for planning obligations with respect of noise emissions, air quality and contaminated land. However it should be noted, when dealing with this subject matter, that conditions will be used wherever possible.

#### **Noise Emissions**

- 2.35 It may be necessary to enter into a planning obligation for noise in circumstances where the proposed development is for a sensitive development, i.e. residential, hospital, school, etc and there is an existing industrial use / railway / busy road, etc, located nearby. The planning obligation will be required to enable the developer to undertake works outside the boundary of the development site to reduce noise at source or provide an off site barrier. The purpose of this action will be to effect a reduction in noise at the development site which is sufficient to enable the proposed development to go ahead without adversely affecting the operation of the existing industry while providing an acceptable noise climate at the location of the proposed development.
- 2.36 Conversely, it may be necessary to enter into a planning obligation where a noisy industrial / commercial process is being located close to existing houses or other noise sensitive development. In this case it will enable the developer to provide acoustic treatment to the existing houses/ development and external amenity areas in order to prevent noise from the proposed use adversely affecting the existing residents or occupants of the noise sensitive development.

The trigger for a planning obligation for noise;

2.37 The trigger for a planning obligation for noise is normally where the officer considers that there is a noise source which will affect the proposed development and is likely to cause a statutory noise nuisance to proposed future residents or be seriously detrimental to the amenity of the future residents. It is normal practice in such circumstances for the applicant to provide a report to the LPA on noise affecting the development site using BS4142 as guidance. The report should detail the action proposed by the developer to mitigate the noise issues.

#### Air Quality

2.38 A planning obligation for air quality would be entered into where the proposed development is likely to have a detrimental effect on air quality. For example, a new housing estate which is serviced by an already busy road which has air quality problems will place an additional burden on the road through extra traffic movements which is likely in turn to increase concentrations of pollutants in the air. In such circumstances, especially where an Air Quality Management Area has been declared in the area concerned by the Local Authority, it may be

appropriate for the developer to be given permission to develop only where a S.106 agreement can be reached which requires the developer to either undertake specific off site works to help minimise the effect of the development on air quality or to provide monies to the Council for equipment and staff to monitor the effect that the development will have on air quality in the area.

# Contaminated Land

- 2.39 There are only a few circumstances where it would be necessary for a planning obligation to address contaminated land issues. The first is where the venting/burning of landfill gas from a landfill site is required to enable a development to proceed and the location of the vent or flare stack was located on land owned by a third party.
- 2.40 The second circumstance is if there is a proposal to develop part of a contaminated site, where it may be necessary for the parties to enter into a planning obligation to allow offsite works to be undertaken to prevent contamination on the undeveloped part of the site from adversely affecting the remediated and developed part of the site, such as an impervious membrane/barrier.
- 2.41 Planning Policy Statement 23; Planning and Pollution Control, and particularly paragraph 2.66 of Annex 2 relates to planning obligations.
  - "Where it is not appropriate to impose conditions to deal with the issues, planning obligations can provide an effective mechanism to ensure that appropriate measures are taken to deal satisfactorily with contamination. Planning obligations can be particularly useful in ensuring that any necessary offsite treatment works, such as the installation of gas-migration barriers, water treatment or monitoring arrangements are put in place. In doing so, it is important to avoid fragmentation of the site which might prejudice necessary monitoring and maintenance provisions. Planning obligations may restrict the development or use of land or require payments to the LPA, e.g. for ongoing monitoring or maintenance or as a bond to cover the contingency of future action triggered by the monitoring."
- 2.42 The following paragraphs refer to planning obligations for off-site treatment or works with respect of the installation of gas-barriers and the provision of plant to treat gas or leachate:
  - Installation of gas- barriers:
- 2.43 The installation of gas-barriers and any associated on-going monitoring requirements. In circumstances where the partial development of a contaminated site is proposed it is important to avoid fragmentation of the site which might prejudice necessary monitoring and maintenance provisions. The planning obligation can help prevent re-contamination of the developed portion of the

site and restrict the development or use of land or require payments to the LPA, e.g. for ongoing monitoring or maintenance or as a bond to cover the contingency of future action triggered by the monitoring.

Provision of plant to treat gas or leachate;

2.44 The provision of plant to treat gas or leachate originating from contaminated land which forms a part of a development. This could be in the form of plant to burn flammable gases being discharged from a contaminated site or plant to capture and treat leachate discharge from a contaminated site where the location of the plant is over the boundary of the developed site. Ongoing monitoring issues for the operation of such plant and equipment may also be a consideration of a planning obligation.

#### **Further Information**

2.45 Further information relating to Planning Obligations with respect of the provision of Environmental Protection can be obtained from the Council's Environmental Protection team.

# **Highway Infrastructure Works**

# **Policy Background**

2.46 The justification for requiring obligations in respect of highway and infrastructure works is set out in Circular 05/2005 'Planning Obligations' (Para B.15) and Policy DD6 'Access and Transport Infrastructure' of the Dudley's Unitary Development Plan

# What is expected from developers?

Section 278 or 38 Agreements under the Highway Act

- 2.47 Agreement for the private sector funding of trunk road works are made under section 278 of the Highways Act 1980. A developer may enter into a section 278 agreement with the local highway authority for improvement works for local roads. A section 278 agreement is essentially a financial mechanism, not a contract to carry out works.
- 2.48 In addition to the above, a common way of creating new highways is by an agreement between developers and local highway authority under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980. Section 38 agreements are often made with housing developers, who agree to build up roads to standards laid down by the Highway Authority. In return the Council will agree to adopt the roads and to maintain them thereafter as public highways. However until a road has been adopted it remains private and the responsibility of the developer/ house owners.

2.49 If Highway Infrastructure Works are required as a result of a development then a S.106 agreement or Planning Obligation will normally be required to ensure that the planning permission will not be implemented until such time as the land owner or developer has entered into the necessary Planning and Highway Agreements.

Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs)

- 2.50 If the Highway Infrastructure Works result in the introduction of new, or an amendment to an existing TRO's, the Council will use its best endeavours to advance and secure a TRO, however, the TRO is subject .to other legislation and therefore its implementation cannot be guaranteed.
- 2.51 If any payment due under any of the provisions of this Agreement is not made on or before the ("due date") the Developer shall pay interest on the payment due of 2% above the base rate for HSBC Bank Plc as at the due date for the period starting with the due date and ending with the date on which payment of the sum on which interest is payable is made. Furthermore, the Council will require third party insurance liability of £10m and indemnity against all liability claims, demands and expenses under the Land Compensation Act 1973 (Parts I and II) and regulations made under it or the equivalent statutory provisions for the time being in force arising from the Highway Works

#### **Further information**

**2.52** Further information with respect of highway infrastructure works can be obtained from the Councils Engineering and Transportation team.

# **Site Specific Measures**

#### Definition

- 2.53 Site specific measures are those obligations required from a particular development which relate specifically to matters not covered through formulae based financial contributions or on site provision. Examples could include:
  - Funding of a pedestrian crossing where a residential development is proposed on the opposite side of a heavily trafficked road to the local shops and play facilities.
  - Funding of improved public transport facilities where a development generating significant level of trips is proposed on or near a bus route/ railway station. The improvements could include improvements to the bus stop/ railway station, the street environment within which the bus stop / railway station is located, or hardware/ software to enable real-time information to be provided on Showcase Public Transport Routes.

- Funding of Air Quality monitoring and mitigation measures where a major development will result in the generation of a significant number of vehicular trips in the vicinity of the site.
- Funding towards the costs incurred in setting up a Car Club, where a
  residential development that proposed little or no off street parking is located
  in an area where there is limited on-street availability.
- Funding towards the cost of long stay coach parking provision from developments such as hotels / stadia/ concert halls that attract significant levels of coach borne visitors.
- 2.54 Generic improvements to access networks will be considered as part of the emerging Local Development Framework (LDF) Core Strategy.

# **Policy Background**

2.55 The justification for requiring obligations in respect of Site Specific Measures is set out in Circular 05/2005 (Paras B12 – B16), PPS23 (in relation to Air Quality Issues).

### **Trigger for Obligation**

2.56 Site Specific obligations could be applied to any development type, irrespective of size, and consequently there is no trigger below which an obligation will not be required. The obligation must satisfy the policy tests set out in Circular 05/2005 which states that obligations must be "...fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development". Consequently a relatively small development may be required to contribute a proportion of the cost of delivering the obligation rather than being required to fully fund it.

#### **Further Information**

2.57 Information regarding Showcase Bus Routes and other bus based public transport is contained in the West Midlands Bus Strategy. This can be obtained from the Council's Transport Team The Passenger Transport Executive Centro/ PTA.

#### **Historic Environment**

#### **Policy Background**

2.58 The justification for requiring planning obligations in respect of the Historic Environment is set out in Circular 05/2005 Planning Obligations (Para B11) and Policy DD7 of the Unitary Development Plan (UDP).

- 2.59 Local Historic Environment policy is also outlined in Dudley's UDP and is expanded upon within the Historic Environment Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). Planning Policy Guidance Notes 15 (Planning and the Historic Environment) and 16 (Archaeology) provide advice on the controls for the protection of historic buildings, conservation areas and archaeological remains.
- 2.60 The overarching aim of the council's Historic Environment policies and SPD are to identify, protect, conserve and enhance the Borough's diverse historic environment and local distinctiveness as a whole. Within this wider context there are buildings, areas, landscapes and features that make an important contribution to local character which must also be conserved and enhanced. In order to assist the local authority in achieving this objective, planning obligations will be sought.

# **Triggers for planning obligations**

- Where new development will have an impact on the historic environment, measures will be required to address the impact. Each case is unique; therefore it is not possible to provide general guidance as to what the trigger would be for planning obligations with respect of the historic environment. However it is possible to group the planning obligations which result from impact on the historic environment into three categories, these are:
  - Developments impacting upon archaeological/ historical/ architectural assets, i.e. damaging actions.
  - Developments impacting upon Landscape Heritage Areas, Castle Hill Special Landscape Heritage Area, Conservation Areas, Buildings of Local Historic Importance, Listed Buildings, Canals, Scheduled Ancient Monuments and other sites of national importance and sites of regional importance (ancient monuments), i.e. location based

#### What is expected from Developers?

- 2.62 Developers are encouraged to make early contact with the Historic Environment section of the Development Services Division to discuss:-
  - The development of proposals that can both support/ facilitate environmental enhancements to relevant historic environment assets/ areas and secure the relevant 'heritage objective'.
  - Discuss the potential contributions (financial) which will be expected from Developers through the Planning Obligations process to support a range of activities that will identify, protect, conserve and/or enhance the historic environment

# The role for Planning Obligations

- 2.63 In order to secure the relevant 'heritage objective' the types of planning obligations that may be used by the local authority in respect of the historic environment fall into three broad categories: -
  - 1. To require the carrying out of specific operations or activities to a historic asset:
  - 2. To require a sum or sums of money to be paid towards the cost of the carrying out specific operations or activities to an historic asset; and
  - To restrict the development or use of the land until the identified 'heritage objective' has been met (see glossary of terms for a definition of a 'heritage objective').
- 2.64 Planning applications which are close to certain types of historic asset (e.g. Canals, publicly owned Listed or Locally Listed Buildings etc), or that directly impact upon or fall within a historic asset may present an opportunity to ask a developer to either carry out specific improvement works or to set aside a commuted sum of money.

# Types of Planning Contribution

- 2.65 The type of contributions or specific operations or activities likely to be required for the Borough's historic assets is as follows:
  - To contribute towards the repair, restoration or maintenance of an historic asset.
  - To contribute towards improved signage to and from an historic asset
  - To contribute towards the provision of Interpretation panels/ material illustrating the history of an historic asset. (Please note that where proposed development directly involves sites of historic or local interest (e.g. canal side development, or sites that contain listed or locally listed buildings) developers will be expected to make full use of this historic asset as an information resource and as such, new development will be expected to be accompanied by relevant interpretation material of the historical and archaeological background of the historical asset).
  - To contribute towards the cost of producing and implementing up-to-date Conservation Area Character Appraisals and Management Proposals for designated conservation areas (Please note: Local authorities have a duty to draw up and publish proposals for the preservation and enhancement of the conservation areas in their districts. The recognised vehicle for doing this is by publishing up-to-date Conservation Area Character Appraisals and Management Proposals for each if its conservation areas, which is to

- be periodically reviewed every 5 years. Such documents will be as specific as possible about the type and scope of planning contributions expected in relation to the management and enhancement of the conservation area.)
- To contribute towards better understanding, education and research of an archaeological site or resources that have not only wider community benefits but an identifiable relationship/ connection with the developer concerned e.g. contribution towards post-excavation costs for Dudley Castle excavation.
- 2.66 The above list is by no means exhaustive but provides some indication of how the planning obligations may be used. The type of agreements and level of contribution will be assessed on a case-by-case basis.

#### **Further information**

2.67 For further detailed information relating to Planning Obligations with respect of Historic Environment or to discuss the implications for your proposed development please contact the Historic Environment Team.

#### Libraries

#### **Policy Background**

- The justification for seeking obligations in respect of Library Facilities is set out in Circular 05/2005 (Para B15) and Unitary Development Plan Policies DD4 'Development in Residential Areas', DD7 'Planning Obligations' and CS3 'Community Facilities'.
- 2.69 The Department of Culture Media and Sport sets out Public Library Standards which all authorities are required to meet. The Government identified libraries as key players in the regeneration of communities in their document "Framework for the Future" published in 2003 which outlined their priorities for libraries over the next 10 years.

#### **Dudley Library Service**

- 2.70 To support the priorities for Libraries mentioned above the Government has laid down a set of standards that public libraries should achieve. Dudley Library Service meets some but not all of the standards. The key standards not met are:
  - Opening hours per 1000 population
  - Additions to stock per 1000 population.

- **2.71** Dudley Library Service is rated 11<sup>th</sup> in a comparison with 15 other similar metropolitan authorities for the above standards.
- 2.72 The Library Service is provided through a network of 18 libraries within Dudley. In addition there is a home library service for housebound members of the public and a service to residential homes for the elderly. The Library Service also has some 150 public access computers which form part of the "People's Network" providing e-access & leisure, learning and information for the public.
- 2.73 Any new residential development in Dudley will create additional demand for library services and impact on the Service's ability to maintain existing standards.

# **Trigger for Obligation**

2.74 Library Facilities Obligations will apply to all new residential development providing 1 additional dwelling including conversions and change of use.

# **Basis of the Calculation**

- **2.75** The following bullet points set out the basis for the calculations of library contributions:
  - Build costs for Library Floor Space:

Build costs for provision of library floor space for the West Midlands Region is £2,966m².

# <u>Dudley Library floorspace/ 1000 population</u>

The average library floorspace per 1000 population in Dudley is 20.8m<sup>2</sup>.

### Additional Stock

Public library standards require 216 items of stock per 1000 population. The average (discounted) cost of a book is £8.68, therefore stock per 1000 population of 216 books is £8,680.

# Public Access Computers

Public Library standards indicate a target of 6 public access computers per 10,000 population or 0.6 per 1000 population. The average cost of installing a public access computer is £750 with an additional £250 for security. Therefore the cost per 1000 population is £600.

Table 1 Cost per 1000 population

Build Costs	£61,693
Additional Stock	£8,680
Extra public access computers	£600
Total	£70,973

An average occupancy of 2.43 persons per unit of accommodation will be used.

Table 2 Example: Proposal for 30 dwellings in Stourbridge

Number of persons:	30 x 2.43 = 72.9
Library contribution:	72.9/1000 x £70,973 = £5,173.93

#### **Further Information**

2.76 Further information relating to Planning Obligations with respect of the provision of Library Facilities can be obtained from the Council Library Service and/ or the Principal Planning Obligations Officer.

### **Nature Conservation**

# **Policy Background**

2.77 The justification for requiring obligations with respect of Nature Conservation is set out in Circular 05/2005 (Paras B15 and B16), PPS9 and Policy DD7 of the UDP. Furthermore the Nature Conservation chapter of the UDP and the Nature Conservation Supplementary Planning Document contain a number of references to circumstances whereby planning obligations may address the impacts of new development.

# **Trigger for Obligation**

- Where new development will have an impact on the natural environment, including biodiversity (habitat and wildlife) and geodiversity (natural outcrops and landform), measures will be required to address this impact. Each case is unique; therefore it is not possible to provide general guidance as to what would trigger the requirement for planning obligations with respect of nature conservation. However it is possible to categorise the planning obligations which result from impact on the natural environment, into four categories, these are: avoidance, mitigation, compensation and enhancement. These are defined by the Office for the Deputy Prime Minister (ODPM) in Biodiversity and Geological Conservation A Guide to Good Practice as:
  - Avoidance: measures taken to avoid adverse impacts of change, such as locating a development away from areas of ecological interest.
  - Mitigation: measures undertaken to limit or reduce adverse effects resulting from development or other change taking place including modifications, deletions or additions to the design of the development, adaption of methods or timing or adjustments in the nature, scale or location of the project.
  - Compensation: measures to offset or make up for losses caused as a result of development or other change, including residual adverse effects which cannot or may not be entirely mitigated.
  - Enhancement: measures to increase the quality, quantity, net value or importance of biodiversity or geological interest.

#### The role of avoidance, mitigation, compensation and enhancements

2.79 Avoidance of damage is the primary mechanism required in policy and may be the only one possible in certain circumstances. Where this is not achievable mitigation should be used as far as possible to neutralise any negative effects of the proposed development. Where mitigation cannot be achieved through

- conditions it may be necessary to enter into a Planning Obligation. Given the individual nature of the sites involved obligations would need to be calculated on a site by site basis.
- Where, after consideration and discussion with the Nature Conservation Officer, avoidance and mitigation will still result in a negative outcome, compensation can be considered as the final resort to balance the damage. Again Obligations in respect of compensation against loss, would need to be calculated on a site by site basis.
- 2.81 Enhancements for nature conservation are in addition to the neutralising effects of avoidance, mitigation and compensation. Enhancements may be general or based on particular policy requirements. Whichever they may be, they should be considered as part of the initial design of the proposal, and in discussion with the Nature Conservation Officer. The aim of these enhancements should be to maximise benefits for the nature conservation value of the site. Any enhancements should be sought only where there is a clear planning policy justification and be negotiated on a site by site basis.

## **Work in Progress**

2.82 Work is currently in progress by the Council to develop a standardised system for enhancements. Once in place this will provide increased clarity on the level of requirements set out within a Planning Obligation and offer a more fair evaluation between developments.

#### **Further Information**

2.83 Further detailed information relating to Planning Obligations with respect of Nature Conservation can be obtained from the Council's Nature Conservation Supplementary Planning Document and the Nature Conservation Officer within the Planning Policy team.

## **Open Space, Sport and Recreation**

## **Policy Background**

- The justification for requiring obligations in respect of open space, sport and recreation, which is taken to include Public Open Space, Children's Play and Playing Fields, is set out in Circular 05/2005 (Para B15, B18 & B20), PPG17 and Policies DD8, LR2, LR3 and LR4 of the Unitary Development Plan.
- 2.85 The Council is also progressing a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) on Open Space, Sport and Recreation Provision, which is currently at draft stage. This will include a detailed assessment of the following:

- Consideration of whether an on-site or off-site contribution is required;
- Criteria used by the Council to help identify where to spend a particular Section 106 commuted sum for off-site public open space and play area improvements; and
- Calculation of commuted sum payments for cost of set up and maintenance of the open space and play equipment.

## **Triggers for the Obligations**

#### Off Site Contributions

2.86 Schemes from 1 to 79 residential units (which are not considered by the Council as major residential sites). The Council will require the provision of commuted sums for children's play & open space provision as an alternative to on site provision unless the applicant can demonstrate that provision is better made by onsite provision in accordance with the criteria set out in the adopted Supplementary Planning Document for Open Space, Sport and Recreation..

#### On Site Contributions

2.87 Schemes of 80 residential units and above (which are considered by the Council as major residential sites). On such sites the Council will explore the requirement of on-site public open space provision within the residential layout. Each proposal site will be assessed by the Council, on a case-by-case basis, based on its individual planning merits.

#### Playfield Contributions

2.88 Will be determined on the overriding priorities in the local area on a site by site basis.

## What is expected from developers

2.89 The following list sets out the calculations of commuted sums payments for open space, sport and recreation in terms of set up costs and maintenance charges. Contributions will relate to local needs and will seek to address the priorities identified for particular areas, i.e. in respect of Public Open Space, Children's Play or Playing Fields. The below costing figures apply from the 13th June 2007, which is the date when the Open Space, Sport and Recreation Provision SPD was adopted. The cost of maintenance and provision is:-

Table 3 Cost of Maintenance Provision

Public Open Space:	Maintenance – £46.67 per dwelling per annum (pa).  Set up - £484.71 per dwelling  (Please note that the Council require a 15 maintenance sum. Therefore all the "maintenance" costings figures referred to throughout this table will need to be multiplied by 15)
Children's Play:	Maintenance – £37.78 x bed space (pa), minus £284.92 where this is greater than zero  Set up – (£659.79 x bed space) plus £298.39 where this is greater than zero.  NB: The minus figure allows the equation to be applied to all
	developments where the resultant contribution to be made by the developer is greater than zero.
Playing Field:	Maintenance – £31.11 per dwelling per annum (pa) Set up - £950.35 per dwelling

- 2.90 Costs for maintenance and set up will be reviewed annually in line with inflation and calculated based, initially, on an assumption of 2.43 persons per dwelling. Maintenance payments will be to cover a period of 15 years after construction. Full justification of costs for provision of Open Space, Children's Play and Playing Fields is set out in Chapter 11 of the Open Space, Sport and Recreation Supplementary Planning Document.
- 2.91 It is also acceptable for developers not only to deliver on-site open space and play provision, but also to maintain it through a management company. However if a developer does opt to pursue this option they will be expected to provide detail via a 'Landscape Design Method Statement'. The Council's requirements for such a statement are set out in the Open Space, Sport and Recreation SPD and should also include consideration of planning guidance for nature conservation, the historic environment and site specific guidance.
- 2.92 Where necessary, commuted sums from developers will be pooled into a 'ring fenced' fund, this will be used in the local area within a 10 year period. When sufficient contributions have accrued, it will be used to provide appropriate local facilities, based on deficiencies, needs, requirements and priorities identified.

#### **Basis for calculations**

#### Residential development

- 2.93 Requirements for children's' play and open space (construction and establishment) are calculated on the basis of a formula basis which is set out in draft Open Space, Sport and Recreation Provision SPD. These formulae are derived from an evidence base of true implementation costs which has been prepared by the Council. Provision is made for an annual uplift in costs on an annual basis to allow an inflationary allowance. The formulae provide either for a quantitative provision in event of the developer providing facilities directly, or for a commuted sum equivalent.
- 2.94 Where facilities are to be provided directly by the developer, qualitative standards and guidance are set out in the Draft Open Space, Sport and Recreation Provision SPD.

#### **Further information**

2.95 Detailed information relating to Planning Obligations in respect of Open Space, Sport and Recreation can be found in the draft 'Open Space, Sport and Recreation Provision' SPD or by contacting the Planning Policy or Design and Projects teams.

## **Public Art**

#### **Policy Background**

- 2.96 The justification for requiring obligations in respect of Public Art is set out in the Council Public Art Strategy and Policy DD9 'Public Art' of the Dudley Unitary Development Plan (2005).
- 2.97 The Strategy provides a definition for public art, outlines how public art relates to the Council's corporate agenda and sets out the various commissioning and delivery mechanisms used by the Council to pursue and develop its approach to public art in addition to setting objectives for future development. The strategy states that:

"The Council will normally seek to negotiate the allocation of at least one-percent of design and development costs to the integrated provision of public art as part of the development. In all instances, however, the Council will seek to negotiate a percentage of cost which is constant which is consistent with the practical achievement of a significant public art product".

2.98 When negotiating the requirement for public art, it should be noted that it is often best delivered as an integral part of built features, for example floorspaces, street furniture and buildings rather than as freestanding installations.

## **Triggers for the Obligations**

#### Residential Development

**2.99** Obligations will be sought for developments of 10 or more dwellings or, where this is unknown, the site area of 0.5 hectares or more.

#### Other Developments

2.100 In other cases obligations will be sought where the floorspace to be created exceeds 1,000 square metres (gross) or the site area is 1 hectare or more.

## What is expected from developers

2.101 The Council will normally seek to negotiate the allocation of at least 1% of design and development costs to the integrated provision of public art as part of the development. In all instances, however, the Council will seek to negotiate a percentage of cost which is consistent with the practical achievement of a significant public art product. This may be provided directly by the developer as an integral part of the development, or by way of a commuted sum to be spent on providing public art in close proximity to the development making a contribution.

## **Further information**

**2.102** Detailed information relating to Planning Obligations in respect of Public Art can be obtained by contacting the Council's Design and Projects team.

#### **Public Realm**

## **Policy Background**

2.103 The justification for requiring obligations in respect of Public Realm is set out in Circular 05/2005 (Para B15) and the Design and Development and Town Centre chapters of the Dudley Unitary Development Plan (2005). Accommodating public realm improvements is necessary to ensure that the Council can achieve it aims of delivering sustainable development in the Borough, in particular in its town and local centres.

2.104 Of further relevance is the Dudley Area Development Framework, adopted as Supplementary Planning Guidance in December (2005) and the Lye District Centre Action Plan, adopted as Supplementary Planning Guidance. July (2004).

## **Triggers for the Obligations**

<u>Development within centres and sites falling within designated Area</u> Development Frameworks/ Action Plans

2.105 Where the development site falls within a priority location, within one of the Borough's designated centres, as set out under Policy CR1 'Hierarchy of Centres', or within the scope of an adopted Area Development Framework/ Action Plan the provision of contributions towards public realm enhancements will be required.

## Residential

- 2.106 Public realm obligations will apply to all new residential developments providing 1 additional dwelling or more, including conversions and change of use.
- **2.107** Other developments
- 2.108 Contributions will be required for sites within, or within walking distance of centres where floorspace to be created exceeds 100 square metres (gross) or where the site area is 0.1 hectare or more.

#### What is expected from developers

2.109 There are 3 town centres, 4 district centres and 12 local centres in the Dudley Borough where existing and new residents will be encouraged to shop to meet their daily needs. The Council seeks to improve the quality of the public realm in these centres to encourage their greatest possible use, hence minimising unsustainable journeys to further shopping and service centres.

#### Assessment of Public Realm Area

- **2.110** Based upon the survey work undertaken in Dudley and Lye the total area of public realm in the 19 centres is some 334,000 sq m. On suitable sites, new development within these centres will be expected to contribute towards improvements in the public realm.
- 2.111 Within the town centres identified within the Unitary Development Plan the split between new residential and commercial development is expected to be in the region of 60% residential and 40% commercial. Therefore, for the 136,000 sq m of public realm identified within the town centres there would be a split of 81,600 sq m for the residential split and 54,000 sq m for commercial.

- 2.112 Based upon the Lye Action Plan, where the boundaries are more tightly drawn around the retail core than in the main centres, a 50/50 split between new commercial and residential development is considered more appropriate. Therefore the 198,000 sq m of public realm identified for district and local centres is split down into 99,000 sq m for the residential development and 99,000 sq m for commercial development.
- 2.113 Based on the above calculations the total area of public realm improvements that will be funded from residential development will be 180,600 sq m (i.e. 81,600 + 99,000), the remaining 153,400 sq m funded will be from commercial development.

#### Cost of Public Realm

- 2.114 The existing residents of Dudley contribute towards public realm improvements though their Council Tax on their dwelling. To mitigate the effects of new residents on the existing public realm it is expected that each new dwelling will pay a sum of money based upon establishment, maintenance and improvement of public realm.
- 2.115 There were 130,591 dwellings in Dudley as of 31<sup>st</sup> March 2006. The Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) has a projected net completion rate of 648 dwellings per annum up to 2011<sup>(ii)</sup> The time period sought for future maintenance of public open space is 15 years and this timescale will be used for the provision of new public realm.
- 2.116 Using this 15 year timescale 8,706 existing dwellings (130,591/15) will contribute annually towards the establishment and maintenance of public realm. Taking into account the projected net completion rate of 648 new dwellings per annum this figure is raised to 9,354 dwelling. Therefore an annual residential public realm contribution is required from 9,354 dwellings.
- 2.117 Using the recent figures from private contractors tendering for public realm improvement works the implementation costs are £305 per sq m. The annual maintenance costs are £4.31 per year which equates to £64.65 for a 15 year maintenance period, giving a total of £369.65 per sq m.
- **2.118** Calculation of contributions;
- 2.119 Using the 15 year time frame, it is the aim that each year 12,040 sq m of public realm will be improved from residential funding (i.e.180,600/15). The cost will be £4,450,586 (i.e.12,040 x £369.65). Each dwelling, both existing and proposed (9,354) will fund public realm improvements, a cost of £475.79 per dwelling (i.e. £4,450,586/ 9,354).

ii Please note that the 2006 projections may be subject to change on the production of subsequent Annual Monitoring Reports. In this event the calculations in this document will be updated accordingly.

2.120 Contributions will be put into a ring fenced fund where monies will be pooled to be spent on improving the public realm in the closest centres where the future occupiers would reasonably be expected to regularly visit.

#### **Further Information**

2.121 Detailed information relating to Planning Obligations in respect of Public Realm Improvements can be obtained by contacting the Design and Projects team.

## **Transport Infrastructure Improvements**

## **Policy Context**

2.122 The justification for requiring obligations in respect of Transport Infrastructure Improvements is set out in Circular 05/2005 (Para B15). The Access and Movement Chapter of the UDP and the Parking Standards and Travel Plans SPD also contain a number of policies/ references to the need for Transport Infrastructure Improvements. Accommodating growth in transportation infrastructure is also a key part of the planning responsibilities of the Council in sustaining its communities and is set out in Planning Policy Statement 1 (PPS1) "Delivering Sustainable Development".

## **Trigger for obligation**

2.123 Contributions towards transport infrastructure improvements in the Borough will be sought on any developments that generate a net increase in the number of trips from a site.

#### What is expected from the developer

- 2.124 The following paragraphs set out in stages the methodology which the Council will use to determine what is expected from developers in terms of contributions towards new transport infrastructure in the Borough.
  - Step 1: Calculation of spending per trip;
- 2.125 The current Local Transport Plan (LTP), published in March 2006, contains a five year 'Transportation Capital Programme' which runs until 2011 for major schemes and Integrated Transport block allocations within the Borough.

Table 4 Transporation Capital Programme

	2006/7	2007/8	2008/9	2009/10	2010/11	Total (£):
Integrated Transport Block	3,770,000	3,880,000	4,109,000	4,353,000	4,610,000	20,722,000

- 2.126 Table 4 shows that the transport infrastructure funded via the Transportation Capital Programme Integrated Transport Block up to 2011 is £20,722,000. This Central Government funding is intended to accommodate the additional trips generated by the current population.
- 2.127 The Government provides national and local statistics and projections from its national trip end and various planning trend models to predict background or natural growth. Access to this information is available via "TEMPRO", a freeware computer package that is downloadable from the DfT web site. The average weekday trip growth for the current LTP programme period, by transport mode, is shown on Table 5.

Table 5 TEMPRO

Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council Growth 2006 to 2011				
Average Weekday	Average Weekday Trips			
Mode of Travel	Origin	Destination	Total	
Car Driver	11,732	8,544	20,276	
Car Passenger	954	639	1,593	
Rail	66	-21	45	
Bus/ Coach	-943	-1,036	-1,979	
Walk	-1,952	-2,707	-4,659	
Cycle	-85	-101	-186	
Combined	9,772	5,318	15,090	

2.128 It can be seen from Table 5 that the total extra trip generation from the existing households and businesses in Dudley is **15,090**. Given that the transport infrastructure funded via the Transportation Capital Programme over 5 years totals £20,722,000 the proportion per additional per trip equates to £1,373 (that is £20,722,000/ 15,090 = £1,373).

Step 2: Planning for Additional Growth

- 2.129 Extraordinary growth attributed to development and in particular with the aspirations of the Regional Spatial Strategy to reverse the outward migration of population has been assessed for these purposes by the West Midlands multi modal model, "PRISM". Over the same Local Transport Plan period as the Transport Capital Programme it has been shown that additional growth of 8% (from the Black Country Study) can be expected. Taking the identification of £20,722,000 needed for the 5 year Transportation Capital Programme then 8% additional growth from extra households and businesses will necessitate an additional £1,657,760 needed for Transport Capital Infrastructure Improvements.
- 2.130 On the basis of the above developer contributions will be sought on the basis of £1,373 per additional trip arising from the development to be pooled to meet the additional £1,657,760 needed. The contributions pooled will be used to accelerate or enhance current transport infrastructure improvements to reflect the increased demand resulting from developments. The monies will be spent in the local area as specified in agreement with the promoter to the benefit of the occupiers of the development be they residents, visitors or workers.

#### Basis of calculation

2.131 The Council seeks to encourage developments at sustainable locations that benefit from good access to sustainable modes of transport and utilise previously developed or brownfield land. In order to achieve this aim the Council require developers, in the absence of a Transport Assessment, to complete a Sustainability Assessment form (see tables 4 and 5 below) which will provide a sustainability weighting. This weighting, when applied to development, will result in highly sustainable areas achieving high scores (and lower contributions towards additional transport infrastructure) and less sustainable locations achieving lower scores (and thus paying more towards transport infrastructure).

#### Sustainability Assessment

2.132 Sustainability Assessment Forms are required to obtain a Sustainability Score, once this score is known the trip contributions can be calculated. The trips contributions can be calculated by dividing the £1,373 trip generation cost by 30 in the case of non residential development or 48 in respect of residential developments (these being the maximum scores from the Sustainability Assessment). The resulting figure is then multiplied by the maximum Sustainability Assessment score minus the actual Sustainability Assessment score. The developer may choose to promote measure to improve the sustainability assessment subject to the satisfaction of the Council. The resulting figure gives a price per trip and is finally multiplied by the trip rates for the relevant type of development (see worked examples below).

- 2.133 The trip generation from the existing uses on site can be used to determine the net additional trip generation. The developer contribution will only be sought where there are additional trips generated as a result of the development. Robust and detailed evidence on trip generation from previous uses must be submitted at the same time of initial submission of the planning application. A developer may seek a reduction in additional trip generation arising from the scheme subject to the satisfaction of the Council. Weekday trip contributions can be derived from the Transport Assessment (TA) or for smaller scale developments from Table 5.
- 2.134 In calculating a sustainability score the emphasis is placed first and foremost on reducing trip demand. Therefore it is stressed that additional trips made, created by a development will not include trips that could be discounted through the introduction of measures to reduce travel demand, such as Travel Plans.

## Worked Examples;

2.135 The examples below relate to the Sustainability Assessment forms below (Tables 3 and 4). These forms need to be completed with respect of all proposals, i.e. residential or non-residential developments and those that have been submitted with or without a Transport Assessment. As mentioned previously a Transport Assessment may be used to calculate the net number of trips expected as a result of the proposed development, otherwise developers may use the figures set out in Table 8.

## **Example 1**

### **Table 6 (Non-residential development)**

Example 1 illustrates the process as applied to a non – residential development (i.e. any of the use classes listed in Table 5, except C3 'Dwellings'). This example relates to a proposal for A1 Food Retail (edge of centre) which has been subject to a Transport Assessment:

The Sustainability Score achieved through the Sustainability Assessment form is 10, giving:

 $1711 \times (30 - 10) = £1141$ . This is the contribution required per trip.

30

Having discounted for previous, brownfield land, uses the Transport Assessment (TA) indicates that the site will attract 1300 trips per day. However the TA argues that of these trips only 5% are truly new therefore giving:

 $1300 \times 0.05 \times £1141 = £74,165$ 

This figure would then form the basis for negotiation with the developer. Further reductions could be achieved by relatively simple improvements such as building additional bus stops closer to the site.

#### **Example 2**

#### Table 7 (Residential development, 19 Dwellings)

Example 2 illustrates the process as applied to a small residential development (19 dwellings) with reasonable accessibility on a previously undeveloped (green field) site.

The Sustainability Score achieved through the Sustainability Assessment form is 35, giving:

 $1711 \times (48 - 35) = £463$ . This is the contribution required per trip.

48

The trip rate as set out in Table 5 is 3.9 trips per dwelling:

3.9 trips per dwelling x 19 dwellings = Trip rate of 74.1 The net gain in the number of trips is 74.1, therefore the total contribution will be:

 $74.1 \times £463 = £34,308.3$ 

Table 6 Example Sustainability Assessment (Non-Residential Development, A1 Food Retail - Maximum Score 30)

Access Type	Criteria	Criteria Scores	Score	Sub Score
Walking	Distance to nearest bus stop from main entrance to building (via direct, safe route)	<200m <300m <500m >500m	5 3 1 0	0
	Distance to nearest railway station from the main entrance to building	<400m <1km >1km	3 2 0	0
Cycling	Proximity to defined cycle routes	<100m <500m <1km	3 2 1	1
Public Transport	Bus frequency of principal service from nearest bus stop during operational hours of the development	15 minutes or less 30 minutes or less >30 minutes	5 3 1	5
	Number of bus services serving different localities stopping within 200 metres of main entrance	4 or more localities served 3 2 1	5 3 2 1	0
	Train frequency from nearest station	30 minutes or less 30-59 minutes Hourly or less frequent	3 2 1	3
	Drive to nearest station	10 minutes or less 15 minutes or less	2	1
Other	Travel reduction opportunities	Facilities on-site or within 100 metres th to travel:	at reduce	the need
		food shop/ cafe newsagent creche other	1 1 1	0
Sustainability Sco	pre	1	ı	10
Sustainability Assessment	(1711/30) x (30-10) = 1141	Contributi	on/ Trip	1141

Table 7 Example Sustainability Assessment (Residential, 19 dwgs - Maximum Score 48)

Access Type	Criteria	Criteria Scores So	core	Sub Score
Walking distance from centre of site to facilities using a safe,	Distance to nearest shop	<200m 5 <400m 3 <500m 1 >500m 0		5
direct route	Distance to nearest railway station	<400m		3
	Distance to nearest primary school	<200m 5 <400m 3 <600m 1 >600m 0		3
	Distance to nearest food shop	<200m 5 <400m 3 <600m 1 >600m 0		3
Cycling distance from centre of site	Proximity to defined on or off-road cycle route	<100m 3 <500m 2 >1km 1		3
	Distance to nearest secondary school	<400m		2
	Distance to nearest town centre	<1km 3 <3km 2 <4km 1		2
	Distance to nearest business park or employment concentration	<1km 3 <3km 2 <4km 1		1
Public Transport	Bus frequency from nearest bus stop (Mon-Sat daytime)	15 minutes or less 5 30 minutes or less 3 >30 minutes 1		5
	Train frequency from nearest station (Mon-Sat daytime)	30 minutes or less 3 30-59 minutes 2 Hourly or less frequent 1		2
Accessibility to other services	Accessibility to other basic services (GP, Post Office, Library, Bank and Pub)	At least 3 within 400m At least 3 within 800m At least 3 within 1.5km  5 3 At least 3 within 1.5km		3
	Accessibility to play area or park	<200m 5 <400m 3 <600m 1 >600m 0		3
Sustainability Score 3				35
Sustainability Assessment	(1711/48 x (48 - 35) = 463	Contribution	n/Trip	463

Table 8 Estimation of Trip Rates for Small Developments

Use	Trip Rate <sup>(iii)</sup>	Estimated Development	Estimated Trip Rate
A1 Food Retail	1.17 per sq.m		0
A1 Non-food Retail	3.8 per sq.m		0
A4 & A5 Public Houses and Hotfood takeaways	1.54 per sq m		0
B1 including offices	0.11 per sq.m		0
B2 Industry	0.13 per sq.m		0
B8 Warehousing	0.05 per sq m		0
C1 Hotels	10.1 per bedroom		0
C2 Hospitals/ Nursing Homes	-		
C3 Dwelling Houses	3.9 per dwelling	19 dwellings	74.1
D2 Assembly and Leisure	-		
Medical Establishments	44.74 per doctor		0
Higher and Further Education	0.55 per student		0
Stadia	Discuss with Highwa	ay Authority	

# Estimation of Trip Rates - Worked Examples;

Table 9 Example 1

Accessibility Assessment:	•	1300		
	Existing trip rate	1235		
	Contribution per trip	£1141	Contribution: 74.1 x £463 =	£74,165

Table 10 Example 2

	Total Trios (from Table 5)	74.1		
Assessment:	Existing trip rate	0		
	Contribution per trip	£463	<u>Contribution: 74.1</u> <u>x £463 =</u>	£34,308

#### **Further information**

2.136 Detailed information relating to Planning Obligations is respect of transport infrastructure improvements can be obtained from the Councils Transport Policy Team.

## **Travel Plans**

## **Policy Background**

- 2.137 The justification for seeking obligations in respect of Travel Plans is set out in Government Guidance within Planning Policy Guidance Note 13 'Transport' (March 2001), and the Office for the Deputy Prime Minister and the Department for Transport Best Practice Guide titled 'Using the Planning Process to Secure Travel Plans' (July 2002). The Council's approach, which is set out in Policy AM16 'Travel Plans' which is considered to be in accordance with PPG 13.
- 2.138 Further guidance relating to Dudley's approach to Travel Plans is set out in the 'Parking Standards and Travel Plans' Supplementary Planning Document (March 2007).

#### **Trigger for the Obligation**

2.139 Travel Plans will be sought in line with the guidance set out Paragraph 89 of PPG13 and Policy AM16 of the Unitary Development Plan entitled 'Travel Plans'.

#### What is expected from developers

- 2.140 Travel Plans should be prepared in association with a Transport Assessment and should set out the travel characteristics of a development. Travel Plans will be expected to consider the following fives types of initiative:-
  - Physical infrastructure such as public transport stops, cycle parking stands, changing rooms, showers, luggage lockers and new cycle and/ or pedestrian paths

- Service Improvements such as subsidised bus services, managed car parking schemes, car sharing, flexible work patterns
- Encouragement and Information Schemes such as help with car sharing, public transport information, discount public transport tickets, maps for cycle/ pedestrian link
- Travel Plan Coordinator to ensure implementation, monitoring and updating of Travel Plans; and
- Targets set with regular reports and penalties if targets not met
- 2.141 The 'Parking Standards and Travel Plans' SPD provides further advice and guidance to developers as to what the expected scope and content' of Travel Plans is and measures have to be taken to secure and deliver Travel Plans.

#### **Further information**

2.142 Detailed information relating to Planning Obligations in respect of Travel Plans can be found in the Parking Standards and Travel Plans SPD and through consultation with the Council Transportation Policy Section.

# **Appendix 1 Thresholds for Planning Obligations**

Table 11 Thresholds for Planning Obligations

Type of Obligation	Residential (1 or more dwellings)	Residential (Other)	Industrial/ Commercial (more than 1000 sq m)
Affordable Housing	-	15 or more dwellings	-
Economic and Community	Contribution	ons calculated on a site by	v site basis
Education	Contribution	ons calculated on a site by	site basis
Environmental Protection	Contribution	ons calculated on a site by	v site basis
Highway Infrastructure Works	Contribution	ons calculated on a site by	v site basis
Site Specific Measures	Contribution	ons calculated on a site by	site basis
Historic Environment	Contribution	ons calculated on a site by	site basis
Libraries	1 or more dwellings	-	-
Nature Conservation	Contribution	ons calculated on a site by	site basis
Open Space, Sport and Recreation	1 to 79 dwellings and thereafter on a site by site basis	-	-
Public Art	-	10 or more dwellings or site area of 0.5ha or more	>1000 sq m or site area of ha and above
Public Realm	1 or more dwellings	-	On suitable sites > 100 sq m or site area of 0.1 ha and above
Transport Infrastructure Improvements	Contributions sought on any developments that generate a net increase in the number of trips from a site		
Travel Plans	Travel Plans will be sought in line with the guidance set out in Paragraph 89 of PPG13 and the Parking Standards and Travel Plans SPD.		

# **Appendix 2 Council Contacts**

<u>Topic</u>	Contact Number(s)
Affordable Housing	01384 81 5007
Economic Wellbeing	01384 81 2532
Education	01384 81 7876
Environmental Protection	01384 81 4608
Highway Infrastructure Works	01384 81 5457
Historic Environment	01384 81 4190
Libraries	01384 81 4745
Nature Conservation	01384 81 4195
Open Space, Sport and Recreation	01384 81 5538
Public Art	01384 81 5538 01902 89 4958
Public Realm Improvements	01384 81 5538
Transport Infrastructure Improvements	01384 81 5426
Travel Plans	01384 81 5426 01384 81 5406

## **Appendix 3 Glossary**

**Affordable Housing** As quoted in PPS3 Housing 'Affordable housing includes social rented and intermediate housing, provided to specified eligible households whose needs are not met by the market. Affordable housing should:

- Meet the needs of eligible households including availability at a cost low enough for them to afford, determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices.
- Include provision for the home to remain at an affordable price for future eligible households or, if these restrictions are lifted, for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable housing provision'

**Area Action Plan** A type of Development Plan Document focused upon a specific location or an area subject to conservation or significant change (for example major regeneration).

**Area Development Framework (Dudley ADF** Supplementary planning guidance outlining the preferred usage of land within Dudley Town Centre, in accordance with the Adopted Unitary Development Plan (2008). A key role of the guidance is to provide detailed guidance for subsequent planning applications.

**Children's Play Area** An area of land which encompasses children's play equipment.

**Conditions** Attached to planning approvals under Section 72 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act which restrict the development or require additional details.

**Conservation Area** An area of special architectural or historic interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance.

**Heritage Objective** A term used as shorthand for any component of historic environment including:

- Scheduled monuments and other archaeological remains
- Historic buildings/ monuments/ structure both statutorily listed or of more local significance
- Conservation areas
- Landscape Heritage Areas
- Registered parks and gardens

**Listed Building** A building of special architectural or historic interest. Listed buildings are graded I, II\* or II with grade I being the highest. Listing includes the interior as well as the exterior of the building, and any buildings or permanent structures (e.g. wells within its curtilage). English Heritage is responsible for designating buildings for listing in England.

**Local Development Framework (LDF)..** A non-statutory term used to describe a folder of documents, which includes all the local planning authority's local development documents. An LDF is comprised of:

- Development Plan Documents (which form part of the statutory development plan)
- Supplementary Planning Documents
- 3.1 The local development framework will also comprise of:
  - the Statement of Community Involvement
  - the Local Development Scheme
  - the Annual Monitoring Report
  - any Local Development Orders or Simplified Planning Zones that may have been added

**Local Development Scheme** The local planning authority's time-scaled programme for the preparation of Local Development Documents that must be agreed with government and reviewed every year.

**Locally Listed Building** Locally important building valued for contribution to local scene or for local historical situations but not meriting listed building status.

**Local Planning Authority** The local authority or council that is empowered by law to exercise planning functions. Often the local borough or district council. National parks and the Broads authority are also considered to be local planning authorities. County councils are the authority for waste and minerals matters.

**Local Transport Plan** A five-year integrated transport strategy, prepared by local authorities in partnership with the community, seeking funding to help provide local transport projects. The plan sets out the resources predicted for delivery of the targets identified in the strategy. Local transport plans should be consistent with the policies and priorities set out in the Regional Transport Strategy as an integral part of the Regional Spatial Strategy.

**Planning Obligation** A legal instrument under Section 106 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act which restricts or regulates the use of the development or land. It may also ensure the delivery of infrastructure associated with a development (see Planning Gain). Sometimes called "Section 106" agreements.

**Planning Gain** Facilities or infrastructure secured by way of a planning obligation as part of a planning approval and usually provided at the developer's expense. For example, affordable housing, community facilities or mitigation measures.

**Playing Field** An area of land which encompasses at least one playing pitch.

**Public Open Space (POS)** Any land laid out as public garden or used for the purposes of public recreation.

Public Realm Urban Spaces to which the public predominantly have access.

**Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS)** The part of the Development Plan which is decided at a regional level and which sets the strategy for the Regions of England. Local Development Frameworks must be in general conformity with the Regional Spatial Strategy.

**Section 106 Agreement (S.106)** A legal agreement under section 106 of the 1990 Town & Country Planning Act. Section 106 agreements are legal agreements between a planning authority and a developer, or undertakings offered unilaterally by a developer, that ensure that certain extra works related to a development are undertaken.

**Section 38** A Section 38 Agreement (under the 1980 Highways Act) is the mechanism between the Council as highway authority with a builder who will construct new roads to the Councils standards for subsequent adoption.

**Section 278** A financial mechanism which is an arrangement under the 1980 Highways Act through which a developer pays for the highway improvements works and their future maintenance

**Supplementary Planning Document** A Local Development Document that may cover a range of issues, thematic or site specific, and provides further detail of policies and proposals in a 'parent' Development Plan Document.

**Traffic Regulation Order** This is a legal order under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 which allows the Highways Authority to regulate the speed, movement and parking of vehicles and regulate pedestrian movement.

**Transport Capital Programme** Transport spending programme on a wide range of transport related projects.

**Transport Infrastructure** Roads, cycleways, footpaths and public transport.

**Travel Plan** A travel plan aims to promote sustainable travel choices (for example, cycling) as an alternative to single occupancy car journeys that may impact negatively on the environment, congestion and road safety. Travel plans can be required when granting planning permission for new developments.

**Tempro** A software programme which will assist in determining vehicular trip generation for transport planning purposes.

**Unitary Development Plan (UDP)** An old-style development plan prepared by a Metropolitan District or Borough and some Unitary Local Authorities, which contains policies equivalent to those in both a structure plan and local plan. These plans will continue to operate for a time after the commencement of the new development plan system, by virtue of specific transitional provisions.